DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILL GOPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIAL

No. 19-0485

JOHN M. BOURDELAIS and JMB COMMERCIAL PROPERTIES, LLC, Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners, AUG 2 6 2019

EDYTHE NASH CHARLES
SUPPREME POUT OF PEFELS
OF VEST VAGGERA

V

RICHARD J. BOLEN, CINDY D. MCCARTY,
T. MATTHEW LOCKHART, JOHN H. MAHANEY,
DANIEL A. EARL, CHRISTOPHER J. PLYBON,
HUDDLESTON BOLEN, LLP, BRIAN S. SULLIVAN,
and DINSMORE & SHOHL, LLP,
Defendants Below, Respondents.

Honorable Gregory L. Howard Circuit Court of Cabell County Civil Action Nos. 15-C-431 and 17-C-303

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioners

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT A CLIENT FILE, TO WHICH A CLIENT IS ENTITLED TO UNDER THE LAWYER'S LEGAL AND ETHICAL OBLIGATIONS, DOES NOT INCLUDE THE LAWYER'S INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS, WHETHER BY EMAIL OR WRITTEN MEMORANDUM.
- 2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT PETITIONERS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO THAT PORTION OF THEIR ELECTRONICALLY STORED CLIENT FILE IN ITS ORIGINAL OR NATIVE FORMAT.
- 3. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT PETITIONERS RECEIVED THEIR ENTIRE CLIENT FILE AS OF JUNE 29, 2015, WHEN THE RESPONDENTS WITHHELD ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS AND ATTACHMENTS THAT WERE NOT INTERNAL FIRM COMMUNICATIONS.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

John M. Bourdelais is a businessman who lives in Huntington, West Virginia, having moved his family and various businesses from Compton, California to Huntington, West Virginia in 1972. The primary businesses owned by Mr. Bourdelais are "Level One Fasteners" and "High Performance Fasteners," which manufacture fasteners for the US Navy through the United States Defense Department for the aerospace industry, nuclear submarines, and aircraft carriers, employing more than 70 people in highly skilled jobs in Huntington, West Virginia. [A110, Vol. I]

On November 18, 2010, one of Mr. Bourdelais' businesses, JMB Commercial Properties, LLC ("JMB"), a real estate holding company, was created by Mr. Bourdelais for the purpose of entering into a Real Estate Purchase Agreement with the Huntington Municipal Development Authority (HMDA) to purchase the Huntington Industrial Center for approximately \$3.2 million, an amount JMB had bid in a public auction. JMB and Mr. Bourdelais were represented by the firm of Huddleston Bolen LLP ("Huddleston"). Huddleston attorney Daniel Earl prepared the Purchase Agreement.

The sale did not close until February 16, 2011. In the meantime, HMDA negotiated a lease for a portion of the Industrial Center to United Waste Water Services, L.C. (later to be called Valicor Environmental Services LLC and referred to hereafter as Valicor) to operate a centralized waste water facility.

HMDA and Valicor signed the Lease Agreement dated February 1, 2011 on February 2, 2011. They used a template Lease Agreement that Valicor initially signed to lease a facility next door owned by the Huntington Area Development Council (HADCO). That lease arrangement had fallen through but the lease document was used as a starting point. The Lease Agreement contained certain provisions for rent set off for improvements but also provided that Valicor was taking the premises as is. HMDA would be responsible for repairing structural defects.

Consistent with Paragraph 18(d) of the Lease, HMDA, Valicor and JMB executed an Assignment

and Estoppel Certificate on February 10, 2011 in advance of the JMB closing. The document recited that JMB was willing to be assigned Valicor's Lease Agreement on the condition that JMB would assume only those obligations of landlord that would arise after the effective date of the Assignment.

The purchase closed on February 16, 2011, with Huddleston serving as the closing agent.

Beginning in March, 2011, Valicor undertook alterations, build-outs and separate meters for electricity, water and gas. It experienced problems with making the concrete floor usable for storage tanks and heavy trucks, which also involved the substrata. Valicor claimed it was entitled to a rent set-off of almost \$200,000 for improvements and another amount to fix the flooring under the terms of the Lease, and it stopped paying rent.

Mr. Bourdelais turned the matter over to Huddleston. Mr. Earl wrote a letter to Valicor's lawyer dated July 19, 2011, pointing out various portions of the Lease Agreement to support JMB's position that it was not responsible for these costs.

Huddleston sued Valicor on JMB's behalf on August 10, 2011 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia captioned, *JMB Commercial Properties, LLC V. Valicor Environmental Services, LLC*, Civil Action 3:11-CB-00543 ("Federal Court Case") seeking a determination that under the Lease Agreement and the Assignment, Valicor had no right of setoff. Valicor counterclaimed for breach of contract, claiming that under the Lease Agreement, JMB as Assignee was responsible for most of the construction costs because the building was defective and in need of repair.

The Huddleston attorneys initially advised Mr. Bourdelais that he had a strong case, based on the Lease and Assignment documents. Daniel Earl, John Mahaney, Thomas Lockhart and Cindy McCarty are the Huddleston attorneys who worked on the Valicor litigation.

Mr. Bourdelais had his deposition taken by Valicor's lawyers on May 18, 2012. Toward the end of the deposition, defense counsel Stachler asked Mr. Bourdelais questions about the February 1, 2011 Lease Agreement, designed to make him aware that a Huddleston attorney, had prepared it.

Mr. Bourdelais did not understand the point Mr. Stachler was trying to make-that Huddleston had a potential conflict of interest of which it had not made Mr. Bourdelais aware. However, he perceived that

his attorneys' positive attitude about the litigation changed after his deposition. The case settled on May 13, 2013 on terms Mr. Bourdelais considered unfavorable.

Mr. Bourdelais ultimately paid Huddleston \$173,385.98 in legal fees and expenses for the litigation.

In a March 2015 meeting on another matter, Mr. Bourdelais met informally with attorney Roy D. Baker, Jr. At the end of the meeting, Mr. Bourdelais explained mentioned to Mr. Baker that he still had an "uneasy feeling" about the conclusion of the Valicor litigation. Mr. Baker advised that he would be willing to look at Mr. Bourdelais' Client File on the matter and share his thoughts and observations.

Before drafting a letter to the Huddleston firm, Mr. Baker contacted Renee N. Frymyer, Esquire, of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel on April 10, 2015. He sought an informal advisory opinion, pursuant to Rule 2.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, concerning what constitutes the complete client file. Mr. Baker wrote a letter memorializing his conversation with Ms. Frymyer: on April 10, 2015, confirming that parts of the complete Client File to which Mr. Bourdelais was entitled were copies of all emails, text messages, and other forms of communications that Mr. Bourdelais' former counsel had with attorneys or individuals within their law firm, as well as with attorneys or individuals outside of their law firm. [A1, Vol. I] Ms. Frymyer signed off on Mr. Baker's letter and also provided him with a cover letter that read in part, "The content of a client's file will vary, of course, depending upon the circumstances of the case and the nature of the relationship. It is generally understood today, however, that client 'documents' do include electronic data and e-mail communications as well as papers and other tangible material." [A1, Vol. I]

By letter dated April 20, 2015, Mr. Baker wrote to all five attorneys seeking all files that relate in any way whatsoever to Mr. Bourdelais and JMB:

Please provide me with the complete originals of your respective files, as well as the complete original of the file(s) maintained by Huddleston Bolen, LLP, now known as Dinsmore, including, but not limited to, all papers, documents, work product, other tangible materials, and electronic data, emails, text messages, and other forms of communication that you had with attorneys or other individuals within your firm that relate in any

way whatsoever to Mr. Bourdelais or JMB Commercial Properties, LLC, as well as electronic data, emails, text messages, and other forms of communications that you had with attorneys or other individuals outside of your firm that relate in any way whatsoever to Mr. Bourdelais or JMB Commercial Properties, LLC. Pursuant to L.E.I. 89-02, at your expense, you may retain copies of such files for your own records. [A1, Vol. I]

Mr. Baker also requested copies of certain administrative documents. Mr. Baker included his April 10, 2015 confirming letter to Ms. Frymyer and her responding letter of April 10, 2015. [A1, Vol. I]

By cover letter dated May 20, 2015, Brian S. Sullivan, Esquire, of Dinsmore responded on behalf of the five attorneys by providing 12 boxes of documents, consisting primarily of expert witness reports, deposition transcripts, and communications with expert witnesses. Mr. Sullivan explained that the emails and other electronic data involving Mr. Bourdelais and JMB would be provided at a later date given technical difficulties arising from the firms merging. He also stated that the firm was unsure whether Mr. Bourdelais and JBM were making a claim, adding, "Until we understand from you what this is all about, we will not provide some of the information you seek." [A1, Vol. I] On May 21, 2015, Mr. Baker emailed Mr. Sullivan asking what information would not be provided. [A1, Vol. I] Having received no response, Mr. Baker emailed Mr. Sullivan again on May 29, 2015, and June 3, 2015. [A1, Vol. I] Mr. Baker also received the informal opinion of Ms. Frymyer that a former client of a law firm does not have to provide any reason for requesting a complete copy of the file because the file is the legal property of the client. [A1, Vol. I] He sent the confirming letter to Mr. Sullivan by letter dated June 4, 2015. [A1, Vol. I]

The Petitioners initiated Civil Action No. 15-C-431 in the Circuit Court of Cabell County ("Case 431") on June 17, 2015, against the Respondents alleging breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, and civil conspiracy. For relief, they sought the full and complete original file, damages from the Respondents resulting from their failure to provide them with the file and attorney fees and costs. [A1, Vol. I] An Amended Complaint was filed in Civil Action No. 15-C-431 on June 22, 2015, amending the manner in which each of the Attorneys was named as a party, and clarifying certain elements of damages. [A2, Vol.

I

By letter dated June 29, 2015, Brian Sullivan of Dinsmore wrote to counsel for the Petitioners, providing additional information concerning that portion of the Petitioners' client file that was stored in electronic format, and providing the Petitioners with emails to and from outside individuals by converting them to PDF and placing them on a CD. [A4, Vol. I]

During the course of the litigation the Petitioners submitting discovery requests. Respondents filed a Motion for Protective Order, seeking to withhold certain portions of the Petitioners' client file described as internal emails. [A4, Vol. I] Petitioners filed Motions to Compel the Respondents to provide full and complete responses to their Requests for Production [A5, Vol. I]. In response to the Respondents' Motion for Protective Order [A6, Vol. I], Petitioners submitted the Affidavit of Affidavit of John M. Bourdelais. He explained that the Petitioners requested the complete client file to determine whether their rights were violated by their former counsel, and to determine whether their former counsel fulfilled their legal and fiduciary duties to the Petitioners.[A7, Vol. I] The Petitioners also filed the Declaration of Bernard J. DiMuro, who is a professional responsibility expert. Mr. DiMuro opined that the American Bar Association Formal Opinion 471 recognizes that the majority of state jurisdictions follow the "entire file" approach to surrendering the client file to the client, and that the exception for "documents reflecting only internal firm communications and assignments" related to internal administrative matters and would not include internal firm communications related to the representation of the client. [A8, Vol. I]

As set out in greater detail in the argument section, Judge Hustead eventually ruled after multiple hearings that because the Respondents had not asserted a valid privilege with respect to the internal emails they had located, they had to produce them. [A17, A28, Vol. I]

A Hearing was held before Judge Hustead on November 13, 2015 [A132, Vol. V], at which time Judge Hustead ordered that "the Defendants shall file individual answers and responses to Plaintiffs' individual Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents, and, if necessary, file a Privilege Log with each question to which the Defendants assert privilege. [A18, Vol. I]

The Respondents produced the internal emails to the Petitioners in printed hard copy only on April 22, 2016, and did not produce any of the attachments to such emails. Eight days after receiving the hard

copies of the internal emails produced by the Respondents on April 22, 2016, the Petitioners filed their "Requests for Inspection and Copying" on May 1, 2016 regarding "electronic data." [A23, Vol. I]

On November 2, 2016, Respondents moved for Partial Summary Judgment in regard to the Petitioners' claims in Civil Action No. 15-C-431, to which the Petitioners responded and the Respondents replied. [A34, A39, Vol. I, A54, A56, A57, Vol. II]. Judge Hustead retired from her position as Circuit Court Judge on December 31, 2016 and was succeeded by the Honorable Gregory Howard.

Judge Howard held a hearing on May 15, 2017, upon Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. [A55, Vol. II, A138, Vol. V] Following the Hearing held on May 15, 2017, Judge Howard denied Defendants' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. [A58, Vol. II, A139, Vol. V]

On July 7, 2017, Judge Howard held a Hearing, granting Respondents' Motion to Strike Petitioners' experts, Robert H. Davis, Esquire and J. Rudy Martin, Esquire, denying Petitioners' Motion to enter judgment against the Respondents, and other discovery issues relating to the production of the Petitioners' client file. [A62, Vol. II, A140, Vol. V] On August 25, 2017, Petitioners filed their Motion for Leave to File a Second Amended Complaint in Civil Action No. 15-C-431. [A61, Vol. II] On October 18, 2017, Respondents filed their Motion to Consolidate Civil Action Nos. 15-C-431 and 17-C-303 for purposes of discovery and trial, to which the Petitioners objected.

A Second Amended Complaint was filed in Civil Action No. 15-C-431 on September 10, 2018, alleging additional theories of recovery based upon legal malpractice, unjust enrichment, fraud, concealment, misrepresentation, relating to the Respondents continued refusal to provide Mr. Bourdelais with the full and complete original of his client file in its original or native format. [A67, Vol. II]

On May 17, 2017 the Petitioners filed Civil Action No. 17-C-303, alleging theories of legal malpractice, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duties, fraud, concealment, misrepresentation, and civil conspiracy. The Complaint alleged that the Respondents had committed malpractice arising from a conflict of interest and also had a claim regarding their refusal to provide the complete file.

An Amended Complaint was filed in Civil Action No. 17-C-303 on September 14, 2017, alleging additional theories of recovery against the Respondents. Civil Action No. 17-C-303 was transferred to

Judge Howard by Order dated June 30, 2017. [A69, Vol. II] Subsequently, over the objection of the Petitioners, the Circuit Court consolidated Civil Action Nos. 15-C-431 and 17-C-303 for purposes of discovery and trial.

On September 14, 2018, Petitioners filed their Brief as ordered by the Court at the Status Conference held on June 28, 2018, to which the Respondents Responded on October 3, 2018, and the Petitioners Replied on October 19, 2018. [A81, A83, A85, Vol. II]

On December 7, 2018, Petitioners filed their Supplemental Expert Witness Disclosure, disclosing Derek W. Ellington as an Expert Witness on behalf of the Petitioners in regard to the production of the electronic portion of Petitioners' Client file in its native format. [A89] By Affidavits dated February 1, 2019, March 11, 2019, and April 16, 2019 [A98, Vol. III, A113, A122, Vol. IV]

On December 14, 2018, Petitioners submitted the Affidavit of Lawrence Lessig, a Professor at Harvard Law School, detailing the importance of the production of the Petitioners' electronic file in its' native/original format. [A90, Vol. III]

On January 7, 2019, the Respondents filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of the "Client file," to which the Petitioners Responded and the Respondents Replied. [A96, A103, A107, Vol. III] A Hearing was held before the Court on February 15, 2019, at which time Judge Howard granted Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment regarding the "Client file." [A124, A143, Vol. V]

On March 11, 2019, Petitioners moved for reconsideration of the granting of Summary Judgment on behalf of the Respondents regarding the "Client file" issue, to which the Respondents Responded and the Petitioners Replied. [A112, A118, A121, Vol. V]

A Hearing was held before the Court on April 19, 2019, at which time Judge Howard denied Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration. [A126, A144, Vol. V]

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court's decision to grant summary judgment to the Respondents was erroneous: It imposed a narrow standard on what constitutes the client file inconsistent with the high fiduciary duty owed to clients and in conflict with current Lawyer Disciplinary Board opinions. A client is presumptively entitled to the complete file subject only to a lawyer carrying the burden of establishing good cause to withhold certain types of internal documents. Additionally, the Circuit Court erred by finding that a lawyer does not have a duty to provide electronic data in the same format he/she stores it.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Because this appeal presents two issues of first impression—under what circumstances is a client entitled to internal emails or memoranda as part of the client file and whether lawyers have an ethical duty to provide material from the client file in the same format as it is stored—the Petitioners request oral argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

V. ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Circuit Court granted the Defendants' Motion for Summary based on its interpretation of law. "Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, this Court will apply a *de novo* standard of review. *** *See also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994)" *Coleman v. Sopher*, 201 W. Va. 588, 594, 499 S.E.2d 592, 598 (1995). Additionally,

A motion for summary judgment should be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law. Syllabus Point 3, Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York, 148 W. Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)." Syllabus Point 1, Andrick v. Town of Buckhannon, 187 W. Va. 706, 421 S.E.2d 247 (1992).Syl. pt. 1, Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

Syl. pt. 1, Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc., 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

Ibid.

ARGUMENT

1. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY HOLDING THAT A CLIENT FILE, TO WHICH A CLIENT IS ENTITLED TO UNDER THE LAWYER'S LEGAL AND ETHICAL OBLIGATIONS, DOES NOT INCLUDE THE LAWYER'S INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS, WHETHER BY EMAIL OR WRITTEN MEMORANDUM

The Petitioners submit that the Circuit Court reached the wrong conclusion for the following reasons:. (A) The Circuit Court's Order Granting the Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment omitted any facts explaining why the Petitioners sought the client file from Respondents. Such facts would have made clear why internal firm documents were so important to the clients' interest. The Order also made significant misstatement of facts; (B) The Circuit Court's ruling was inconsistent with the long-established legal ethics opinions of the Lawyer Disciplinary Board; (C) the Circuit Court Order made

only a passing reference to the predecessor Judge's ruling that the internal emails were part of the file and did not explain why it was reversing that ruling; (D) the Circuit Court Order did not acknowledge that the Lawyer Disciplinary Board had issued long-standing opinions that attorney work-product was part of the client file, and reached a decision inconsistent with those opinions; and (E) The Circuit Court would have been assisted by permitting the Respondents' experts to provide the Court with the benefit of their nationwide knowledge. Each point will be addressed in turn.

A. Omission and Mischaracterizations of Facts

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