# FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should deny the Petitioners' Petition for Appeal, because the Circuit Court did not err in granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment on the "Client File" issue.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Respondents request oral argument pursuant to Rule 20 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). In conducting the review, the Court is to apply the same standard for granting summary judgment that is applied by the circuit court. Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the non-moving party, such as where the non-moving party has failed to make a sufficient showing of an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove. Id. at Syl. Pt. 4. The circuit court's function at the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial. Id. at Syl. Pt. 3.

- B. The Circuit Court Was Correct in Holding That a Client File to Which the Client is Entitled to Receive From the Client's Attorney Does Not Include Internal Firm Communications or Electronically Stored Files in Their Native Format
  - 1. <u>Petitioners Have Received the Entirety of the "Client File," as</u>
    <u>Defined by the American Bar Association and a Number of Other</u>
    Bar Associations and Jurisdictions

Rule 1.16(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct provides:

"[u]pon termination of representation, a lawyer shall take steps to the extent reasonably practicable to protect a client's interests, such as giving reasonable notice to the client, allowing time for employment of other counsel, surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled and refunding any advance payment of fee or expense that has not been earned or incurred. The lawyer may retain papers relating to the client to the extent permitted by law."

The twelve (12) boxes of paper files which Mr. Sullivan initially provided to Mr. Baker with his May 20, 2015 letter and the external e-mails and e-mail strings he provided in PDF format on June 29, 2015, constitute the entire JMB/Valicor "client file" as defined by the American Bar Association and by nearly all jurisdictions and bar associations which have considered this issue. The only documents withheld from production initially, but later produced by order of Judge Hustead, were copies of internal firm e-mail communications which were not part of the client file and belonged to Huddleston Bolen, LLP, not its client.

The ABA Standing Committee on Ethics and Professional Responsibility issued a formal ethics opinion, ABA Formal Opinion 471, Ethical Obligations of

Lawyer to Surrender Papers and Property to Which Former Client is Entitled, on July 1, 2015. [SA126 – SA132]. The formal opinion states in relevant part:

"Administrative materials related to the representation, such as memoranda concerning potential conflicts of interest, the client's creditworthiness, time and expense records, or personnel matters, are not considered materials to which the client is entitled under the end product approach. Additionally, the lawyer's personal notes, drafts of legal instruments or documents to be filed with a tribunal, other internal memoranda, and legal research, are viewed as generated primarily for the lawyer's own purpose in working on a client matter, and, therefore, need not be surrendered to the client under the end product approach."

The position adopted by the ABA in this formal opinion is consistent with the judicial decisions of all jurisdictions and bar associations which have considered the issue of what constitutes a "client file." It is also consistent with the Restatement [Third] The Law Governing Lawyers, Section 46, Comment c., which provides:

"A lawyer may refuse to disclose to the client certain law-firm documents reasonably intended only for internal review, such as a memorandum discussing which lawyers in the firm should be assigned to a case, whether a lawyer must withdraw because of the client's misconduct, or the firm's possible malpractice liability to the client."

In addition to the ABA formal opinion and the Restatement [Third], the highest courts in at least three states have addressed the issue of what constitutes the contents of an attorney-client file in terms of what must be released to the client

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The West Virginia State Bar Lawyer Disciplinary Board and Office of Disciplinary Counsel, while not bound by formal ethics opinions issued by the ABA, often make reference to and rely upon ABA formal opinions in absence of relevant authority in West Virginia. As noted in footnote 1 of LEI 2002-01, "ABA opinions are not binding in West Virginia, but are generally persuasive. ABA informal opinions are not as persuasive as formal opinions."

upon termination of an attorney-client relationship. In Sage Realty Corp. v. Proskaueer Rose Goetz & Mendelsohn, LLP, 91 N.Y.2d 30 (1997), [SA133 – SA137]. the New York Court of Appeals, the highest appellate court in New York, followed the majority rule of allowing an expansive general right of a client to have access to the contents of his or her attorney's file while recognizing certain exceptions, citing the Restatement [Third] of the Law Governing Lawyers. The Court held that a client is not entitled to the disclosure of "(i) documents which might violate a duty of nondisclosure owed to a third party, or otherwise imposed by law, or (ii) which contain 'firm documents intended for internal law office review and use' that are 'unlikely to be of any significant usefulness to the client or to a successor attorney." Sage Realty Corp., 91 N.Y.2d at 37-38. Elaborating, the Court stated:

"... nonaccess [sic] would be permissible as to firm documents intended for internal law office review and use. 'The need for lawyers to be able to set down their thoughts privately in order to assure effective and appropriate representation warrants keeping documents secret from the client.' citing This might include, for example. Restatement]. documents containing a firm attorney's general or other assessment of the client, or tentative preliminary impressions of the legal or factual issues presented in the representation, recorded primarily for the purpose of giving internal direction to facilitate performance of the legal services entailed in that representation." Id.

In 2007, in an opinion regarding a lawyer disciplinary matter, the Iowa Supreme Court, citing Sage Realty and the Restatement [Third], held that a "lawyer may refuse to disclose to the client certain law-firm documents reasonably intended only for internal review, such as a memorandum discussing which lawyers in the

firm should be assigned to a case, whether a lawyer must withdraw because of the client's misconduct, or the firm's possible malpractice liability to the client. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disciplinary Bd. v. Gottschald*, 729 N.W.2d 812 (Iowa 2007). [SA138 – SA146]. In 2016, the Supreme Court of Arkansas adopted a rule proposed by the Arkansas Bar Association related to the maintenance of a client's file and the contents of the file. The rule, as adopted by the Arkansas Supreme Court, provides that documents such a lawyer's work product, internal memoranda prepared by or for the lawyer, internal conflict checks, firm assignments, notes regarding any ethics consultation or records that might reveal the confidences of other clients are not part the client file. *In re Rule 1.19 –Ark. Rules of Prof'l Conduct*, 2018 Ark. 468, 2016 Ark. LEXIS 387 (2016). [SA147 – SA149].

While every jurisdiction has adopted ethical rules regarding a client's right to access the legal files maintained by the attorney for the client, few bar associations have specifically addressed what "constitutes" a client file. ABA Model Rule 1.16(d) and Rule 1.16(d) of the West Virginia Rules of Professional Conduct provide that "a lawyer shall promptly deliver to the client or third person any funds or other property that the client or third person is entitled to receive." Additionally, both the Model Rule 1.16(d) and West Virginia Rule 1.16(d) require a withdrawing lawyer to surrender papers and property to which the client is entitled to protect the former client's interests. See Comm. on Leg. Ethics of The W. Va. State Bar v. Cometti, 430 S.E.2d 320, 327 (W. Va. 1993) (holding that once an attorney-client relationship

comes to an end, "Rule 1.16(d) comes into play and the attorney is required to promptly return the client's papers and documents").

The West Virginia State Bar's Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel has not promulgated an informal or formal opinion on what constitutes a client's file and what documents must be provided to a client or former client in an electronic format upon a request for a copy of the client file, but a few other bar associations have issued such opinions. In 1999, prior to the issuance of ABA Formal Opinion 471, the Vermont Bar Association issued an advisory ethics opinion on this issue based on ABA Informal Opinion 1376, issued in 1977. The Vermont advisory opinion stated: "materials that a lawyer must return in such circumstances are as follows: (1) all of the property delivered to the lawyer by the lawyer's client; (2) the "end product" of the lawyer's work; and (3) all other material which is useful to the client in fully benefiting from the services of the lawyer. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a lawyer need not deliver his/her internal notes and memos which have been generated for the lawyer's own purposes in working on the client's problem." Vermont Bar Association Advisory Ethics Opinion 1999-07 (emphasis added). [SA150 - SA151].

The Pennsylvania Bar issued a formal ethics opinion in 2007 which opined that a client is entitled to receive all materials in an attorney's possession relating to the representation including all materials that have potential utility to the client and the protection of the client's interests. The opinion notes that a client would not normally need or want, and therefore would not typically be given, attorney

notes from the lawyer's personal files, unless those notes have been placed by the attorney in the case file because they are significant to the representation, copies of electronic mail messages, unless they have been placed by the attorney in the file because they are significant to the representation, or memoranda that relate to staffing or law office administration. Pennsylvania Bar Committee on Legal Ethics and Professional Responsibility Formal Opinion 2007-100. [SA152 – SA160].

In 2008, the Association of the Bar of the City of New York, Committee on Professional and Judicial Ethics, issued a formal opinion on this issue, Formal Opinion 2008-01, Lawyer's Ethical Duty to Retain and Provide Client with Electronic Documents Relating to a Representation. [SA161 – SA167]. Specifically the Bar Committee addressed (i) a lawyer's ethical obligation to retain e-mails and other electronic documents relating to a representation; (ii) the ethical limitations on a lawyer's ability to delete e-mails and other electronic documents and (iii) the extent to which a client has a presumptive right to obtain e-mails and other electronic documents in a lawyer's possession. Citing Sage Realty, the Committee noted that the Disciplinary Rules recognize that a client has a right to certain "papers and property" in the possession of the attorney, but the Rules do not spell out what those "papers and property" consist of. Specifically, with regard to emails, the Committee found that a client does not have a presumptive right of access to e-mail communications between lawyers of the same law firm intended for internal law office review and use or to e-mail communications which are unlikely to be of any significant usefulness to the client or to a successor attorney.

Committee Opinion also stated the client is not entitled to access otherwise inconsequential documents similar to those intended for internal review and use, such as an e-mail to opposing counsel confirming the starting time of a deposition, or an e-mail to a testifying expert asking for transcripts of recent testimony.<sup>11</sup>

With regard to how copies of e-mail communications must be organized and stored, the Committee Opinion stated that "a lawyer is not under an ethical obligation to organize those documents in any particular manner, or to store those documents in any particular storage medium, so long as the lawyer ensures that the manner of organization and storage does not (a) detract from the competence of the representation, or (b) result in the loss of documents that the client may later need and may reasonably expect the lawyer to preserve." *Id*.

In 2010, the Supreme Court of Ohio's Board of Commissioners on Grievances and Discipline issued an opinion on "Whether a Lawyers' Notes Must be Relinquished to a Client Upon the Client's Request." In its opinion, the Committee noted that "[a] lawyer's notes to himself or herself regarding passing thoughts, ideas, impressions, or questions will probably not be items reasonably necessary to a client's representation. Opinion 2010-2. [SA168 – SA179]. Internal office management memoranda such as personnel assignments or conflict of interest checks will probably not be items reasonably necessary to a clients' representation."

Also in 2010, the Illinois State Bar Association issued an advisory ethics opinion stating "[w]ith respect to the sixth category (administrative materials

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> It should be noted that copies of **all** external e-mail communications were produced to Petitioners in this case by Mr. Sullivan on June 29, 2015. No effort was made to identify communications which were inconsequential to the client and withhold those from production.

relating to the representation such as memoranda concerning potential conflicts of interest or the client's creditworthiness, time and expense records, or personnel matters, and internal administrative materials) the Committee does not believe that a client is entitled to copies of or access to such materials under either Rule 1.4(a) or Rule 1.15(b). These materials are not relevant to the status of the client's matter and are usually prepared only for the lawyer's internal use." Illinois State Bar Association Advisory Opinion on Professional Conduct No.: 94-13 (Jan. 1995, Affd. May 2010). (emphasis added). [SA180 – SA186].

In 2014, the North Carolina State Bar issued a formal opinion regarding what electronic records an attorney may omit from production when a client requests a copy of his or her file. The Bar opinion stated "[a] lawyer may omit from the records that are considered a part of the client's file the following: (1) email containing the client's name if the email is immaterial, represents incomplete work product, or would not be helpful to successor counsel; (2) draft notes saved in preliminary versions of a filed pleading since these are incomplete work product; (3) notations or categorizations or documents stored in a discovery database since these are incomplete work product; and (4) other items that are associated with a particular client such as backups, voicemail recordings, and text messages unless the items would be helpful to successor counsel." North Carolina State Bar Formal Ethics Opinion 2013-15 (Adopted January 24, 2014). (emphasis added). [SA187 – SA188].

In 2016, the Wisconsin Bar Association issued an opinion stating that "[m]aterials containing only internal firm communications concerning the client file, such as conflicts checks, personnel assignments, and advice the lawyer receives concerning the lawyer's own conduct, such as compliance with the Rules, may be withheld from a client." Wisconsin Bar Association Ethics Opinion EF-16-03 (Dec 29, 2016). (emphasis added). [SA189 – SA195].

Most recently, in 2018, the Colorado Bar Association in addressing a client's right to access the file related to a legal representation, found that there are two primary types of material the lawyer may retain because they constitute portions of the file to which the client is not entitled. The first type includes documents in which a third party, e.g., another client, has a right to nondisclosure. The second type of material involves those documents that would be considered practice-related materials relating to the business of representing the client. These include, for example, internal memoranda concerning the client file, conflicts checks, personnel assignments, and lawyer notes reflecting personal impressions and comments relating to the business of representing the client. Colorado Bar Association Ethics Committee Formal Opinion 104 (Revised 09/15/2018). (emphasis added). [SA196 – SA208].

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